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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO

Civil Action No.

NATIONAL SKI AREAS
ASSOCIATION, INC.

Plaintiff,
V.
UNITED STATES FOREST SERVICE,
an agency of the United States
Department of Agriculture,

and

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF
AGRICULTURE,

and

HARRIS SHERMAN,

Under Secretary for Natural Resources
and Environment of United States
Department of Agriculture,

Defendants.

COMPLAINT FOR JUDICAL REVIEW AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY
1. This is a complaint for judicial review of a final agency action under the

Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”), to wit: the United States Forest Service’s (“Forest
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Service”) stunning and unprecedented directive to its employees that they insert new conditions
into ski area permits to control and seize privately owned water rights acquired and used under
state law by ski area operators at ski areas on National Forest System lands throughout the
United States. This lawsuit requests the Court hold unlawful and issue a nationwide injunction
to set aside the directive under the APA, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2), because it is arbitrary, capricious, in
excess of the Forest Service’s statutory authority, compels an uncompensated taking of private
property, and was adopted without public notice or an opportunity to comment as required by the
APA and by the National Forest Management Act (“NFMA”).

2. The final agency action here is Interim Directive Number 2709.11-2011-3 issued
by Associate Deputy Chief of the Forest Service James M. Pefia on November 8, 2011 without
public notice or an opportunity for public comment as part of the Forest Service Handbook
(“2011 Directive”). The 2011 Directive is attached as Exhibit 1.

3. The 2011 Directive instructs Forest Service employees to insert into ski area
special use permits a seven-page clause — called Clause D-30 — that dramatically alters the settled
legal regime governing water rights at ski areas on National Forest System lands. The conditions
of Clause D-30 mandated by the 2011 Directive will produce permanent legal consequences that
extend beyond the 40-year term of ski area special use permits.

4. The seven-page 2011 Directive:

a. Compels ski area permit holders to permanently assign or quit claim to the
United States Government privately owned water rights without payment of compensation by the

United States;
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b. prohibits ski area operators from selling water rights used at the ski area to
anyone except the future ski area operator, even water rights that the ski area obtains from
private lands or lands miles away from the ski area;

C. requires ski area permit holders to permanently assign water rights to the
Forest Service to which the Forest Service believes it was entitled under long expired ski area
permits to which the current permit holders were never subject;

d. significantly reduces the economic value of water rights acquired by ski
area operators at great expense;

e. forces ski area permit holders to grant the Forest Service a power of
attorney so that the Forest Service itself can execute necessary documents to seize, control, and
transfer the permit holders’” water rights to the Forest Service;

f. requires ski area permit holders to waive any legal claim for compensation
against the United States for privately owned water rights seized, taken, and subject to compelled
transfer under the 2011 Directive; and

g. requires permit holders to use water rights solely in support of the ski area,
but permits the Forest Service to use such water rights for other purposes.

5. The 2011 Directive defies statutory directives from Congress that the Forest
Service defer to and follow state law for private water rights obtained from and used on National
Forest System lands.

6. The 2011 Directive is contrary to federal policies instructing the Forest Service to

respect private property rights arising under state law in water rights.



Case 1:12-cv-00048-JLK Document1 Filed 01/09/12 USDC Colorado Page 4 of 23

7. The Forest Service purported to authorize itself to take the actions required by the
2011 Directive. No legislation authorizes the Forest Service to use its ski area special use permit
authority to exercise dominion and control over water rights arising under state law. No statute
authorizes the Forest Service to condition the issuance of a ski area special use permit on the
permit holder assigning its water rights to the Forest Service. No statute authorizes the Forest
Service to prohibit a ski area permit holder from transferring its water rights obtained under state
law to anyone except the successor permit holder. No statute authorizes the Forest Service to
force ski area permit holders to execute a power of attorney to empower the Forest Service to
assign the ski area’s water rights to itself. No statute authorizes the Forest Service to condition
the issuance of a ski area special use permit on the permit holder waiving its claim that the
permit conditions amount to a taking without compensation in violation of the Fifth Amendment
to the United States Constitution.

8. The Forest Service purported to authorize itself to take the actions required by the
2011 Directive without accounting to the citizens of the United States, without public notice, and
without requesting and responding to the views of state and local governments. That action
violated mandatory federal statutory procedures that require citizen involvement and public
accountability in the development of new law, specifically the public notice and comment
obligations of the APA, 5 U.S.C. § 553, and the NFMA, 16 U.S.C. § 1612(a).

9. The 2011 Directive is binding on Forest Service employees who have no

discretion except to apply it. Since the Forest Service issued the 2011 Directive on November 8,
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2011, Forest Service employees have inserted the provisions of the 2011 Directive in three
separate ski area special use permits without modification.

10. The Court should issue a nationwide injunction to enjoin the Forest Service’s
application of the 2011 Directive.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

11. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8 1331.

12. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e).

13.  The 2011 Directive is final agency action within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. 8 704.

14, This Court has authority to review the 2011 Directive under the APA,5U.S.C. §
706.

PARTIES

15. Plaintiff National Ski Areas Association, Inc. (“NSAA”) is a not-for-profit trade
association in Lakewood, Colorado for ski area owners and operators in the United States.
NSAA represents 321 alpine resorts that account for more than ninety percent of the annual skier
and snowboarder visits nationwide, including twenty-five resorts within Colorado, twenty-one of
which operate on National Forest System lands under special use authorization from the Forest
Service. Nationwide, 121 ski areas operate on National Forest System lands. NSAA members
with Forest Service special use permits must obtain new permits from time to time, including
when they acquire a ski area on National Forest System lands, when the term of a permit expires,
when permit boundaries are adjusted, or when an existing permit holder changes its legal status

such as from a corporation to a limited liability company.
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16. The 2011 Directive injures NSAA members that currently hold Forest Service ski
area special use permits or that are likely to hold such permits in the future. Ski area permit
holders obtain water rights under state law at great expense and effort. The 2011 Directive
injures such NSAA members in many ways, including by: significantly reducing the value of
water rights NSAA members have acquired under state law at great expense; mandating that
NSAA members assign water rights to the United States as a condition of a ski area special use
permit; prohibiting NSAA members with ski area special use permits from transferring solely-
owned water rights obtained from private lands to anyone except a successor ski area operator;
prohibiting NSAA members with ski area special use permits from exercising legal and property
rights arising under state law associated with water rights; compelling NSAA members to waive
legal claims against the Forest Service for compensation as a condition of obtaining a ski area
special use permit; and forcing NSAA members to give the Forest Service a power of attorney to
control and transfer water rights obtained by NSAA members as a condition of a ski area special
use permit.

17. Intrawest ULC (“Intrawest”), headquartered in Denver, Colorado, is a member of
NSAA. Intrawest owns Steamboat Ski Resort, and operates Winter Park Resort, both in
Colorado, under special use permits from the Forest Service. Winter Park Resort and Steamboat
Ski Resort are members of NSAA. Winter Park and Steamboat own water rights acquired under
Colorado state law that are used at the ski areas. Water rights owned by Winter Park and
Steamboat are property rights under Colorado law. Winter Park’s special use permit expires in

2013 as it was issued in 1983 under the 1897 Organic Act and the 1915 Term Permit Act. Asa
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result of the looming expiration of the special use permit, Winter Park’s lender, Wells

Fargo, requires that Winter Park Resort obtain a new special use permit from the Forest Service
by December 31, 2012. The 2011 Directive requires that new special use permits must contain
the provisions of water clause D-30 set forth in the 2011 Directive. Intrawest and Winter Park
will be forced to accept clause D-30 in order to obtain a new special use permit. Clause D-30
will devalue the water rights associated with the ski area and harm Winter Park’s interests
because it diminishes the value of the water rights owned by Intrawest and Winter Park, prohibits
their transfer and change in use, and mandates that the permit holder assign some water rights to
the Forest Service without compensation.

18. CNL Lifestyle Properties, Inc. (“CNL”) is a member of NSAA. CNL owns seven
ski areas under special use permit from the U.S. Forest Service including Crested Butte
Mountain Resort in Colorado, Brighton Ski Resort in Utah, Loon Mountain Recreation Corp. in
New Hampshire, Mountain High Resort in California, Stevens Pass in Washington, Sierra-at-
Tahoe Snowsports Resort in California, and the Summit at Snogualmie in Washington. CNL
purchased ski areas subject to Forest Service special use permits in 2011, 2010, 2009, and 2008.
In each acquisition, CNL was required to obtain a new special use permit from the Forest
Service. CNL may acquire one or more ski resorts in 2012 and 2013 which could be subject to
Forest Service special use permits. For a ski area subject to a Forest Service special use permit,
the Forest Service will require that CNL obtain a new special use permit for the ski area as it did
for the seven ski areas identified above. The Forest Service has directed that new special use

permits must contain USFS water clause D-30 issued on November 8, 2011. When CNL
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acquires a ski area, it typically purchases the water rights currently owned by the ski area as an
essential and critical asset included in the purchase. CNL owns water rights under state law that
it acquired for use at its ski areas. Water rights acquired under state law are fundamental to the
value of any ski area, including a ski area subject to a Forest Service special use permit. CNL
considers it essential to own and responsibly manage water rights in order to increase, over time,
the economic and recreational contribution made by our resorts. Clause D-30 will devalue the
water rights associated with a purchased resort and harm CNL’s interests because it diminishes
the value of the water rights owned by CNL, prohibits their transfer and change in use, and
mandates that the permit holder assign some water rights to the Forest Service without
compensation.

19. Defendant United States Forest Service is the federal agency within the United
States Department of Agriculture charged with managing ski areas under special use permits on
National Forest System lands in compliance with federal laws and regulations including the APA
and the NFMA. The Forest Service is responsible for complying with the APA and the NFMA
in formulating binding directives for its programs. The Forest Service issued the 2011 Directive.

20. Defendant United States Department of Agriculture is an executive branch agency
of which the Forest Service is a part. The Department of Agriculture is responsible for ensuring
that its actions comply with federal law, including the APA and NFMA.

21. Defendant Harris Sherman is sued in his official capacity as Under Secretary for

Natural Resources and Environment at the United States Department of Agriculture. Defendant
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Sherman is responsible for overseeing the Forest Service, and for ensuring that it complies with

federal law, including the APA and NFMA.

BACKGROUND

Recreation on National Forest System Lands

22.  Congress directed and authorized the Forest Service in the Ski Area Permit Act of
1986 and in other statutes to authorize private entities to provide developed, four-season public
recreation at ski areas on National Forest System lands pursuant to long-term special use permits,
also called special use authorizations. 16 U.S.C. 88 497, 497b, 497c; Pub. L. No. 112-46.

23.  The Ski Area Permit Act of 1986, as amended in 1996, identifies the
compensation due to the United States for a ski area special use permit. See 16 U.S.C. 8 497c.
Congress did not authorize the Forest Service to demand assignment or joint-ownership of water
rights as compensation for, or as a condition of, ski area special use permits.

24.  Congress directed the Secretary of Agriculture in the Ski Area Permit Act of 1986
to promulgate rules and regulations applicable to ski area special use permits. 16 U.S.C. §
497b(7), (c). The Department of Agriculture conducted notice-and-comment rulemaking under
the APA, 5 U.S.C. § 553, and promulgated such regulations at 36 C.F.R. Part 251 Subpart B.

25. Forest Service ski area special use permits are ordinarily issued for a term of 40
years. 16 U.S.C. § 497b(b)(2).

26. A ski area special use permit holder must obtain a new ski area permit when the

term expires.
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27. Ski area special use permit terms and conditions are mandatory and binding on
the permit holder. The Secretary of Agriculture may cancel the permit for violation of the terms
and conditions. 16 U.S.C. 88 497b(b)(5), 497b(b)(7).

28.  The Forest Service uses a standardized form ski area special use permit. The
form ski area special use permit has changed over time, but ski area special use permits issued at
any point in time are mostly uniform.

29. Forest Service ski area special use permits terminate automatically upon a change
in ownership of the permitted facilities. 36 C.F.R. § 251.59. When a ski area permit holder sells
a ski area subject to special use authorization, the buyer must obtain a new ski area special use

permit from the Forest Service.

Water Rights
30.  The Property Clause of the United States Constitution, U.S. Const. Art. 1V, § 3,

Cl. 2, permits the United States to regulate federal public lands, however federal land
management agencies do not have plenary authority over water resources and water rights
arising on federal public lands.

31.  Congress has repeatedly directed federal agencies to look to state law rather than
federal law for matters involving water rights, including for private rights in water arising on
federal public lands. See, e.q., the Mining Act of 1866, 30 U.S.C. 8 51; the Act of 1870, 30

U.S.C. § 52; the Desert Land Act of 1877, 43 U.S.C. § 321.

10
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32, In the 1952 McCarran Amendment, 43 U.S.C. 8 666, Congress waived sovereign
immunity from suit for actions seeking to adjudicate water rights, including a waiver of
sovereign immunity from suit for federal claims to reserved water rights held for National
Forests. Under the McCarran Amendment, the United States shall “be deemed to have waived
any right to plead that the State laws are inapplicable[.]” 43 U.S.C. § 666(a).

33.  The United States Supreme Court has held that Congress intended for water
rights, even rights to water diverted from federal land, to be governed by state law. See, e.q.,

United States v. New Mexico, 438 U.S. 696, 702, 98 S. Ct. 3012, 3015 (1978); California

Oregon Power v. Beaver Portland Cement, Co., 295 U.S. 142, 155-64, 55 S. Ct. 725, 728-31

(1935).

34. In 1996, Congress created a Federal Water Rights Task Force, P.L. 104-127 8
389(d)(3), in response to a controversy in Colorado over the Forest Service’s attempt to require
Forest Service permit holders to relinquish part of their water supply for secondary National
Forest purposes as a permit condition.

35. In its August 25, 1997 Report, the Task Force concluded that:

(1) Congress has not delegated to the Forest Service the authority necessary to

allow it to require that water users relinquish a part of their existing water supply

or transfer their water rights to the United States as a condition of the grant or

renewal of federal permits;

(2) .. . the Forest Service may not use its permitting authority to reallocate or

otherwise obtain water for National Forest purposes from non-federal water rights

which have been or will be recognized in McCarran proceedings; and

(3) The Forest Service must attain the secondary purposes of the National Forests
by obtaining and exercising water rights in accordance with state and federal law

11
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and by working with owners of non-federal water rights to achieve National

Forest purposes without interfering with the diversion, storage, and use of water

for non-federal purposes. . . .

36. The law of many states provides that private interests in water rights are private
property.

37. Colorado law, for example, recognizes that the right to the use of water secured
by a legal appropriation is real property, and affords water rights protection under state law. The
Colorado Constitution provides that “[t]he right to divert the unappropriated waters of any
natural stream to beneficial uses shall never be denied.” Colorado Const. art. XVI sec. 6.

38. Under the National Forest Management Act, revisions to land use permits “shall
be subject to valid existing rights.” 16 U.S.C. § 1604(l).

39. No statute grants the Forest Service authority to condition the issuance of a ski
area special use permit on the assignment to the United States, or the United States’ joint-
ownership, of the permit holder’s water rights.

40. No statute grants the Forest Service authority to restrict a water right holder’s
right under state law to sever or alienate the water right as a condition of a special use permit.

41.  The Forest Service may acquire water rights in the same manner as any other
entity pursuant to the laws of the state in which the water rights are acquired. For example, the
Forest Service may purchase water rights from their owner if the Forest Service wants to obtain
them for use on National Forest Systems lands.

42. No state law authorizes the Forest Service to acquire water rights as a condition of

issuing a ski area special use permit.

12
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The 2004 Special Use Permit Water Clause

43. Prior to 2004, the Forest Service did not compel ski area special use permit
holders to assign water rights arising under state law to the Forest Service.

44, On June 21, 2004, the Forest Service revised the water rights clause included in
ski area permits. The 2004 Clause is attached as Exhibit 2.

45, The 2004 Clause provides, in relevant part, that “[a]fter June 2004, any right to
divert water from the permitted NFS land where the use of such water is on the same permitted
NFS land shall be applied for and held in the name of the United States and the holder
(hereinafter called the ‘joint water rights’).” (Ex. 2, 2004 Clause F.3.)

46. The 2004 Clause did not require ski area permit holders to assign to the Forest
Service water rights obtained from outside the permitted lands. The 2004 Clause provides that it
“shall not apply to water rights that are acquired by the permit holder from a source off of the
permitted NFS land and transferred to a point of diversion or storage on the permitted NFS
land.” (Ex. 2, 2004 Clause F.3.)

47.  After June 21, 2004, the Forest Service included the 2004 Clause in ski area
special use permits issued under the 1986 Ski Area Permit Act until issuance of the 2011

Directive on November 8, 2011.

13
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2011 Directive

48. The Office of the Chief of the Forest Service publishes the Forest Service
Handbook under authority delegated by the Secretary of Agriculture. 36 C.F.R. 8§ 200.1,
200.3(b), 2004.

49.  The Office of the Chief of the Forest Service issues directives in the Forest
Service Handbook to manage and control all Forest Service programs and provide administrative
direction to Forest Service employees. 36 C.F.R. 8 200.4(b)(1).

50. Forest Service employees are required to follow directives in the Forest Service
Handbook. Forest Service employees do not have discretion to refuse to follow directives in the
Forest Service Handbook. 36 C.F.R. § 200.4(b).

51. The Chief of the Forest Service has delegated authority to the Office of the
Deputy Chief of the Forest Service to issue directives in the Forest Service Handbook. 36 C.F.R.
§§ 200.1(c), 200.4.

52.  On November 7, 2011, the Forest Service Associate Deputy Chief James M. Pefia
exercised the delegated authority of the Chief of the Forest Service and issued the 2011
Directive, which was effective November 8, 2011. (See Ex. 1.)

53.  The Forest Service did not publish the 2011 Directive in the Federal Register.

54.  The Forest Service did not provide public notice or an opportunity for public
comment on the 2011 Directive within the meaning of the APA, 5 U.S.C. 8553, or NFMA, 16

U.S.C. § 1612(a).

14
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55.  The Department of Agriculture has not established an administrative appeals
procedure applicable to the Forest Service’s issuance of the 2011 Directive in violation of the
APA and NFMA.

56. The 2011 Directive adds a mandatory clause, “D-30”, that Forest Service
employees must include in ski area special use permits.

57. The 2011 Directive is binding on Forest Service line officers and employees. See
36 C.F.R. § 251.52. The 2011 Directive leaves Forest Service line officers and employees with
no discretion; they must “[i]nclude clause D-30 in the ski area term special use permit.” (Ex. 1,
2011 Directive at 3.)

58. The 2011 Directive D-30 clause dramatically affects water rights that ski area
permit holders hold or hope to acquire.

59. Under the 2011 Directive, water rights are treated differently depending on where,
when, and how they are acquired.

60. For some types of water rights, the 2011 Directive resurrects the terms of the ski
area permit in effect at the time the water right was first filed with an administrative or judicial
entity, even if the permit in effect at the time the water right was perfected has since expired or
otherwise terminated, and a new permit with different terms has taken its place. (Ex. 1, 2011
Directive at 4, 6, F.2.a(2), F.2.b(2).) This may be the case even if the expired or terminated

permit was executed by a different party.

15
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61. If the terms of the old permit called for United States ownership, the current
permit holder must assign ownership of the water right to the United States, via quitclaim deed if
necessary. (Ex. 1, 2011 Directive at 4, F.2.a(3).)

62. For other types of water rights, the 2011 Directive requires the permit holder to
apply for joint ownership of the water right, and share ownership with the United States. (Ex. 1,
2011 Directive at 4, F.2.a(1).)

63. These water rights may not be severed from the ski area or modified in any
manner unless approved by the Forest Service. (Ex. 1, 2011 Directive at 4, 6, F.2.a(3), F.2.b(2).)

64. For some types of water rights, the permit holder must apply for and acquire the
water rights solely in the name of the United States. (Ex. 1, 2011 Directive at 5-6, F.2.b(1).).

65.  Although a few types of water rights may be owned solely in the name of the
permit holder, in most cases the permit holder may not divide, transfer, or sever its ownership of
such water from use on the permitted area, or modify use of the water without Forest Service
approval. (Ex. 1, 2011 Directive at 7, F.2.c(1).)

66. For some, and possibly all, types of water rights, the Forest Service need only use
the water “primarily” in support of the ski area, and may divert some water for other uses. (EX.
1, 2011 Directive at 3, 5, 7, F.2.a, F.2.b(1), F.2.d.) On the other hand, the permit holder may not
use the water rights subject to the 2011 Directive for any other purposes. (Ex. 1, 2011 Directive
at4, 6,7, F.2.a(3), F.2.b(3), F.2.c(1), F.2.c.(2).)

67. For all types of water rights, upon termination or revocation of the permit, the

permit holder must transfer its interest in the water rights, no matter how or when acquired, to

16
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any succeeding permit holder, or to the United States if the use is not reauthorized. (Ex. 1, 2011
Directive at 8, F.2.d.) This applies even to water rights purchased or leased by the permit holder,
for which the permit holder paid compensation to another party. It also applies to water acquired
by the permit holder through diversion from non-Forest Service land.

68. The permit holder, by executing the permit, grants the United States limited
power of attorney to execute any document necessary to transfer the water right to the
succeeding permit holder or the United States, or to correct any failure to ensure that the water
right is jointly held by the United States and the permit holder as joint tenants with right of
survivorship or as tenants in common. (Ex. 1, 2011 Directive at 8-9, F.2.e.)

69.  As acondition of receiving the permit, the permit holder must waive any right to
compensation against the United States for the transfer of water rights or for restrictions on the
dividing, transferring, severing, or modification of any water rights. (Ex. 1, 2011 Directive at 9,
F.2.f)

70.  Since the Forest Service issued the 2011 Directive, the Forest Service has issued
three ski area special use permits under the 1986 Ski Area Permit Act in connection with the sale
and purchase of ski areas. The Forest Service inserted clause D-30 from the 2011 Directive in
each of these three ski area permits. Although the 2011 Directive is effective for approximately
eighteen months until May 2013, ski area permits that the Forest Service issues with the 2011
Directive D-30 clause are binding and in effect for forty years by operation of statute. 16 U.S.C.

§ 497h.

17
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FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

The 2011 Directive is a Legislative Rule That the Forest Service Issued Without Public Notice
and an Opportunity for Public Comment in Violation of the Administrative Procedure Act

71. Plaintiff restates and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-70 above.

72.  The Forest Service’s issuance of the 2011 Directive was final agency action under
5U.S.C. § 704.

73.  The APA requires agencies to adhere to three steps in promulgating rules: (1)
provide notice of the proposed rule; (2) provide an opportunity for public comment; and (3)
provide an explanation of the rule ultimately adopted. See 5 U.S.C. § 553(b), (c).

74.  The APA’s notice-and-comment requirement does not apply to “interpretive rules,
general statements of policy, or rules of agency organization, procedure or practice.” 5 U.S.C. §
553(b)(3)(A).

75.  The 2011 Directive is a substantive legislative rule subject to the requirements of
5 U.S.C. §553(b)-(c). Itis not an interpretive rule, general policy statement, or rule of agency
procedure within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 553(b)(3)(A).

76.  Through the 2011 Directive, the Forest Service mandates that its line officers and
employees include the 2011 Directive language in ski area permits; Forest Service employees
have no discretion whether to include it.

77.  The Forest Service did not publish notice of a proposed 2011 Directive, and did
not provide an opportunity for public comment. The Forest Service did not provide a reasoned

explanation of the 2011 Directive after it was issued.
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78.  The 2011 Directive is invalid, of no legal effect, and contrary to law because it is
a legislative rule promulgated adherence to the notice and comment procedures mandated by the

APA. 5U.S.C. §8 553(b)-(c), 706(2).

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

The Forest Service Violated the National Forest Management Act Because it Issued the 2011
Directive Without Public Notice and an Opportunity for Public Comment

79. Plaintiff restates and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-78 above.

80.  The National Forest Management Act mandates that the Forest Service give
Federal, State, and local governments and the public adequate notice and an opportunity to
comment upon the formulation of standards, criteria, and guidelines applicable to Forest Service
programs. 16 U.S.C. § 1612(a).

81.  The Forest Service’s issuance and administration of special use permits for ski
areas on Forest Service lands under the Ski Area Permit Act of 1986 is a Forest Service program
within the meaning of 16 U.S.C. 8 1612(a).

82.  The 2011 Directive applies to the Forest Service ski area program.

83.  The 2011 Directive is the formulation of standards, criteria, and guidelines
applicable to a Forest Service program subject to the notice, comment, and procedural
requirements of 16 U.S.C. 8 1612(a). The 2011 Directive mandates that Forest Service

employees insert its provisions into ski area special use permits. The provisions of a ski area
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special use permit are legally binding upon the permit holder. 16 U.S.C. § 497b(1); 36 C.F.R. 88
251.52, 251.55, 251.56.

84.  The Forest Service did not provide Federal, State, and local governments, and the
public, notice and an opportunity to comment on the formulation of the 2011 Directive.

85.  The 2011 Directive violates 16 U.S.C. § 1612(a). Accordingly, the 2011
Directive is arbitrary and capricious, an abuse of discretion, otherwise not in accordance with the
law, and without observance of the procedures required by law, within the meaning of the APA,

5U.S.C. § 706(2)(D).

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
The 2011 Directive is Arbitrary and Capricious Under the Administrative Procedure Act
Because the Forest Service Lacks Statutory Authority to Issue it, and it is Not in Accordance
With Law

86. Plaintiff restates and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-85 above.

87.  The APA requires courts to set aside final agency action that is: “arbitrary,
capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law,” “in excess of
statutory jurisdiction, authority, or limitations, or short of statutory right,” “contrary to
constitutional right, power, privilege, or immunity,” or adopted “without observance of
procedure required by law.” 5 U.S.C. § 706(2).

88.  The 2011 Directive is final agency action.

89.  The Ski Area Permit Act of 1986 specifies the compensation that the United

States may demand as a condition of issuing a ski area special use permit. See 16 U.S.C. § 497c.
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It does not authorize the Forest Service to demand assignment of exclusive or joint-ownership of
water rights as compensation.

90. No statute grants the Forest Service authority to condition the issuance of a ski
area special use permit on the assignment to the United States, or the United States’ joint-
ownership, of the permit holder’s water rights.

91. No statute grants the Forest Service authority to restrict a water right holder’s
right to sever or alienate the water right as a condition of a ski area special use permit.

92.  Congress and the United States Supreme Court have repeatedly stated that
activities on federal lands are subject to state water law, and that water rights may be acquired
only in accordance with state law.

93. No state law authorizes the Forest Service to acquire, or restrict alienability or
severance of, water rights as a condition of granting a ski area special use permit.

94.  The 2011 Directive is unlawful and should be set aside under the APA because
the Forest Service lacks statutory authority to issue it. See 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(C).

95.  The 2011 Directive is arbitrary, capricious, and not in accordance with law
because it was issued in violation of Congressional direction that water rights on National Forest
System lands are subject to state law and procedures. See 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A).

96.  The 2011 Directive is unlawful and should be set aside because it is contrary to
the right under the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution against the taking of

property without just compensation. See 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(B).
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court enter judgment in favor of
Plaintiff and against all Defendants and provide the following relief:

1. Declare that the Forest Service violated the APA by adopting the 2011 Directive
without following the procedures required by 5 U.S.C. 88 553(b), (c);

2. Declare that the Forest Service violated NFMA by adopting the 2011 Directive
without following the procedures required by 16 U.S.C. § 1612(a);

3. Declare that the Forest Service may not condition the issuance of a ski area
special use permit on the assignment of, or restriction of alienability or severance of, water
rights;

4, Enjoin the Forest Service nationwide from acting in a manner contrary to the
declarations listed above;

5. Award Plaintiff’s costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees, as authorized by the Equal
Access to Justice Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2412(d), and any other statute; and

6. Provide such other relief as the Court deems just and proper.
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Respectfully submitted this 9th day of January, 2012.

s/Ezekiel J. Williams

Ezekiel J. Williams

Christopher S. Mills

Steven K. Imig

Ducker Montgomery, Lewis

& Bess, P.C.

1560 Broadway, Suite 1400

Denver, CO 80202

Telephone: 303-861-2828

Facsimile: 303-861-4017

Email: zwilliams@duckerlaw.com;
cmills@duckerlaw.com;
simig@duckerlaw.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff National Ski Areas
Association, Inc.
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id_2709.11-2011-3
Page 1 0of 9

FOREST SERVICE HANDBOOK
NATIONAL HEADQUARTERS (WO)
WASHINGTON, DC

FSH 2709.11 — SPECIAL USES HANDBOOK
CHAPTER 50 - STANDARD FORMS AND SUPPLEMENTAL CLAUSES
Interim Directive No.: 2709.11-2011-3
Effective Date: November 8, 2011
Duration: This interim directive expires on May 8, 2013.

Approved: JAMES M. PENA Date Approved: 11/07/2011
Associate Deputy Chief, NFS

Posting Instructions: Interim directives are numbered consecutively by handbook number
and calendar year. Post by document at the end of the chapter. Retain this transmittal as the first
page(s) of this document. The last interim directive was 2709.11-2011-2 to chapter 40.

New Document id 2709.11-2011-3 9 Pages
Superseded Document(s) None

(Interim Directive Number

and Effective Date)

Digest:

52.4 - Adds clause D-30 which supersedes clause XILF.1 through XILF.3 in the 10-09 version of
form FS-2700-5b.
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52.4 - D Clauses: Resource and Improvement Protection

D-30. Water Facilities and Water Rights. Include clause D-30 in the ski area term special use
permit. D-30 supersedes clauses XILF.1 through XII.F.3 in the 10-09 version of form

FS-2700-5b.
F. WATER FACILITIES AND WATER RIGHTS

1. Water Facilities. No ditch, reservoir, well, spring, seepage, or other facility to pump,
divert, store, or convey water (hereinafter “water facilities”) for which the conveyance
system or the point of diversion, storage, or withdrawal is on National Forest System
(NFS) lands may be initiated, developed, certified, or adjudicated by the holder unless
expressly authorized in this permit or a separate special use authorization. The
authorization of any water facilities on the NFS lands covered by this permit is granted
only to allow use of water that primarily supports operation of the winter or year-round
resort and related facilities authorized by this permit. If the use of any water facilities
that primarily support operation of the winter or year-round resort and related facilities
ceases, the authorization to use any associated water facilities terminates. The United
States may place conditions on installation, operation, maintenance, and removal of water
facilities that are necessary to protect public property, public safety, and natural resources
on NFS lands in compliance with applicable law. Any change in a water facility,
including a change in the ownership or beneficial use of water or location of use of water
from a water facility, that is not expressly authorized in this permit shall result in
termination of the authorization for that water facility.

2. Water Rights. This permit does not confer any water rights on the holder. The term
“water rights” includes all authorizations, such as certificates, reservations, decrees, or
permits, for water use issued under State law. Unless otherwise specified, all necessary
water rights must be jointly applied for and acquired by the holder and the United States.
These water rights shall be used, retained, and maintained by the holder as the agent of
the United States in accordance with State law and the terms of this permit and for the
benefit of the United States and the holder. Any expenses for acquiring and maintaining
water rights shall be the responsibility of the holder and not the responsibility of the
United States. The United States reserves the right to take all actions necessary to
maintain and protect any right to divert and use water on site.

a. Ownership of Water Rights For Water Diverted From and Used on NFS Lands
Covered By This Permit. Clause XII.F.2.a restricts the use and ownership of water
rights for water diverted from and used on NFS lands covered by this permit
(hereinafter “rights to divert and use water on site”). Any right to divert and use
water on site shall be used primarily in support of operation of the winter or year-
round resort and facilities authorized by this permit.
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(1) Joint Ownership of Rights to Divert and Use Water on Site After June 21, 2004,
Ownership of any right to divert and use water on site after June 21, 2004, shall, to
the extent authorized by applicable State law, be jointly applied for by the holder and
the United States and held in the name of the United States and the holder as joint
tenants with a right of survivorship or, if joint tenancy with a right of survivorship is
not authorized by State law, shall be applied for jointly by the holder and the United
States and held in the name of the United States and the holder as tenants in common.

(2) Sole Holder or United States Ownership of Rights to Divert and Use Water on
Site Before June 21, 2004. Ownership of any right to divert and use water on site that

was initiated, developed, certified, or adjudicated prior to June 21, 2004, continues to
be governed by the terms and conditions of the ski area permit in effect at the time
that water right was first filed with an administrative or judicial entity. If that permit
provided for United States ownership, the water right shall be owned solely by the
United States. If that permit was silent on ownership of water rights and the water
right was acquired in the name of the holder, ownership of the water right shall
continue to be in the name of the holder. If the permit was silent on ownership of
water rights and the water right was acquired in the name of the United States,
ownetship of the water right shall continue to be in the name of the United States.

(3) Effectuation of Ownership. The Forest Service shall exercise its joint ownership
of rights to divert and use water on site only in support of operation of the winter or
year-round resort and related facilities authorized by this permit. The holder shall not
take any action intended to divide or transfer the holder’s ownership interest in any
right to divert and use water on site; to sever the holder’s ownership interest in any
right to divert and use water on site from support of operation of the winter or year-
round resort and facilities authorized by this permit; or to modify the type, place, or
season of use associated with any right to divert and use water on site, in any manner
except as provided for in this and any previous Forest Service permit, unless
otherwise approved in writing in advance by the authorized officer. During the term
of this permit and any subsequent permit issued to the holder for the use authorized
by this permit, the holder shall be responsible for maintaining and shall have the right
to submit any applications or other filings that are necessary to protect any right to
divert and use water on site. The holder shall undertake any action required to
effectuate clause XII.F.2.a under State and federal law, including executing a quit
claim deed in the name of the United States and the holder or in the name of the
United States.
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WATER RIGHTS TO DIVERT AND USE WATER ON SITE HELD JOINTLY IN
THE NAME OF THE UNITED STATES AND THE HOLDER (if none, so state)

State ID # Owner Purpose of Decree, Point of Point of
Use License, or Diversion Use
Certificate #

WATER RIGHTS TO DIVERT AND USE WATER ON SITE THAT ARE HELD
SOLELY IN THE NAME OF THE HOLDER (if none, so state)

State ID # Owner Purpose of Decree, Point of Point of
Use License, or Diversion Use
Certificate #

WATER RIGHTS TO DIVERT AND USE WATER ON SITE THAT ARE HELD
SOLELY IN THE NAME OF THE UNITED STATES (if none, so state)

State ID # Owner Purpose of Decree, Point of Point of
Use License, or Diversion Use
Certificate #

b. Ownership of Water Rights For Water Diverted From NFS Lands Not Covered By
This Permit For Use on NFS Lands Covered by This Permit. Any right to divert

water from NFS lands not covered by this permit for use on NFS lands covered by
this permit (hereinafter “right to divert water off site for use on site”) requires a
separate special use authorization.

(1) Sole United States Ownership of Rights to Divert Water Off Site for Use on Site
After November 8, 2011. Except as provided in clause XII.F.2.c, after November 8,
2011, any right to divert water off site for use on site shall be applied for and acquired
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solely in the name of the United States by the holder; shall be used primarily in
support of operation of the winter or year-round resort and facilities authorized by
this permit; shall remain in the name of the United States; and shall continue to be
used primarily for that purpose unless the use is not reauthorized.

(2) Sole Holder or United States Ownership of Rights to Divert Water Off Site for
Use on Site Before November 8. 2011. Ownership of any right to divert water off site

for use on site that was initiated, developed, certified, or adjudicated prior to
November 8, 2011, continues to be governed by the terms and conditions of the
permit for the diversion, if one exists, or the ski area permit in effect at the time that
water right was first filed with an administrative or judicial entity. If that permit
provided for United States ownership, the water right shall be owned solely by the
United States. If that permit was silent on ownership of water rights and the water
right was acquired in the name of the holder, ownership of the water right shall
continue in the name of the holder. If the permit was silent on ownership of water
rights and the water right was acquired in the name of the United States, ownership of
the water right shall continue to be in the name of the United States. The holder shall
not take any action intended to divide or transfer the holder’s ownership interest in
any right to divert water off site for use on site; to sever any right owned by the
holder to divert water off site for use on site from support of operation of the winter
or year-round resort and facilities authorized by this permit; or to modify the type,
place, or season of use of any right owned by the holder to divert water off site for
use on site, in any manner except as provided for in this permit and any previous
Forest Service permit, unless otherwise approved in writing in advance by the
authorized officer.

WATER RIGHTS TO DIVERT WATER OFF SITE FOR USE ON SITE THAT
ARE HELD SOLELY IN THE NAME OF THE UNITED STATES
(if none, so state)

State ID # Owner Purpose of Decree, Point of Point of
Use License, or | Diversion Use

Certificate #
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WATER RIGHTS TO DIVERT WATER OFF SITE FOR USE ON SITE THAT
ARE HELD SOLELY IN THE NAME OF THE HOLDER (if none, so state)

State ID # Owner Purpose of Decree, Point of Point of
Use License, or Diversion Use
Certificate #

¢. Sole Holder Ownership of Water Rights Purchased or Leased By the Holder and of
Water Rights for Water Diverted From Non-NFS Lands For Use on NFS Lands

Covered by This Permit.

(1) Notwithstanding clauses XIL.F.2.a and XILF.2.b, water rights purchased or leased
by the holder in support of operation of the winter or year-round resort and facilities
authorized by this permit may be owned solely in the name of the holder, even if
these water rights are changed or exchanged to a point of diversion on NFS lands
covered by this permit for use on NFS lands covered by this permit (hereinafter “for
diversion and use on site”). With respect to water rights that are purchased or leased
by the holder and that are changed or exchanged for diversion and use on site after
November 8, 2011, the holder shall not take any action intended to divide or transfer
the holder’s ownership interest in these water rights; to sever these water rights from
support of operation of the winter or year-round resort and facilities authorized by
this permit; or to modify the type, place, or season of use associated with these water
rights, in any manner except as provided for in this and any previous Forest Service
permit, unless otherwise approved in writing in advance by the authorized officer.

(2) Notwithstanding clauses XILF.2.a and XILF.2.b, water rights for water diverted
from non-NFS lands for use on NFS lands covered by this permit (hereinafter “for use
on site”’) may be owned solely in the name of the holder. With respect to water rights
for water diverted from non-NFS lands for use on site acquired after November 8,
2011, the holder shall not take any action intended to divide or transfer the holder’s
ownership interest in these water rights; to sever these water rights from support of
operation of the winter or year-round resort and facilities authorized by this permit; or
to modify the type, place, or season of use associated with these water rights, in any
manner except as provided for in this and any previous Forest Service permit, unless
otherwise approved in writing in advance by the authorized officer.
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WATER RIGHTS PURCHASED OR LEASED BY THE HOLDER AND WATER
RIGHTS TO DIVERT WATER FROM NON-NFS LANDS FOR USE ON SITE
THAT ARE HELD SOLELY IN THE NAME OF HOLDER (if none, so state)

State ID # Owner Purpose of Decree, Point of Point of
Use License, or Diversion Use
Certificate #

d. Termination or Revocation. Upon termination or revocation of this permit, the
holder shall transfer the holder’s interest in any water rights subject to clauses
XIL.F.2.a and XILF.2.b; any water rights that are purchased or leased by the holder
and that are changed or exchanged for diversion and use on site after November 8,
2011; and any water rights to divert water from non-NFS lands for use on site
acquired after November 8, 2011, to any succeeding permit holder. This water and
these water rights shall continue to be used primarily in support of the winter or yeat-
round resort and related facilities authorized by this permit. If that use is not
reauthorized, the holder shall transfer the holder’s interest in water rights that are
jointly owned under clause XILF.2.a(1) to the United States. The holder shall
promptly petition in accordance with State law to remove from NFS lands the point of
diversion and water use associated with water rights owned solely by the holder under
clauses XII.F.2.a through XILF.2.c or shall transfer these water rights to the United
States. The parties intend that once the holder’s interest in these water rights is
transferred to the United States, they shall be owned solely in the name of the United
States.

<USER NOTES FOR CLAUSE XILF.2.e>

<When the authorized officer is exercising the power of attorney under this clause
to effectuate transfer of water rights to the United States, the permit and the deed
transferring title must be provided to the state engineer’s office and the appropriate
county recorder’s office.>

e. Documentation of Transfer. The holder and the holder’s heirs and assigns shall
execute and propetly file any document necessary to transfer to a succeeding permit
holder or the United States ownership of the holder’s interest in any water rights
subject to clauses XILF.2.a and XILF.2.b; any water rights that are purchased ot
leased by the holder and that are changed or exchanged for diversion and use on site
after November 8, 2011; and any water rights to divert water from non-NFS lands for
use on site acquired after November 8, 2011, or to correct a failure to ensure that any
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right to divert water under clause XII.F.2.a be held jointly by the United States and
the holder as joint tenants with a right of survivorship or as tenants in common, in
accordance with the terms of this permit. By executing this permit, the holder hereby
grants limited power of attorney to the authorized officer to execute any document on
behalf of the holder as may be necessary to transfer the holder’s interest in any water
rights subject to clauses XII.F.2.a and XII.F.2.b; any water rights that are purchased
or leased by the holder and that are changed or exchanged for diversion and use on
site after November 8, 2011; and any water rights to divert water from non-NFS lands
for use on site acquired after November 8, 2011, to a succeeding permit holder or the
United States, or to correct a failure to ensure that any right to divert water under
clause XII.F.2.a be held jointly by the United States and the holder as joint tenants
with a right of survivorship or as tenants in common, in accordance with the terms of
this permit.

Holder’s initials and date:

f. Waiver. The holder waives any claims against the United States for compensation
for any water rights subject to clauses XILF.2.a through XILF.2.c that are transferred,
removed, or relinquished as a result of revocation or termination of this permit; for
compensation in connection with imposition of any conditions on installation,
operation, maintenance, and removal of water facilities associated with water rights
subject to clauses XII.F.2.a through XIL.F.2.c; or for compensation in connection with
imposition of restrictions on dividing, transferring, or severing any water rights or on
modifying the type, place, or season of use associated with any water rights subject to
clauses XII.F.2.a through XIL.F.2.c.
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P.O. Box 96090
Washington, DC 20090-6090

File Code: 2720-2/2340
Route To: (2340), (2720)

Date:

JUN 21 2004

Subject: Water Rights Clause for Ski Area Permits, FS-2700-5b

To: Regional Foresters

This letter announces a revision to the water rights clause in the ski area term permit.
Additionally, it requests that holders of this type of permit be given an opportunity to amend
their permit to update the water rights clause within 90 days.

Attached to this letter is the language for the new water rights clause. We worked
collaboratively with the National Ski Area Association in the development of this clause. Its
members are anticipating the revised clause. Holders of permits authorized under the National
Forest Ski Area Permit Act (the Act of October 22, 1986) on form FS-2700-5b, should be
notified in writing that they may request an amendment to their permit. Please forward this letter
to all National Forests with ski areas. When amending permits to incorporate the revised water
rights clause, it is also necessary to remove clauses III. F. Temporary Suspension, VIIL. A.

) Termination for Higher Public Purpose and VIIL. B. Termination, Revocation and Suspension in
existing permits. These clauses should be replaced with the following four clauses: VIII. A.

Revocation and Suspension, VII1. B. Opportunity to Take Corrective Action, VIII. C. Revocation
Jor Reasons in the Public Interest, and VIIL. D. Suspension which are also included in the
attachment. The language of these clauses in the existing permit is inconsistent with regulation
at 36 CFR 251.51 which was updated in 1998 and inconsistent with the language in the revised

water rights clause.

Similar changes are being made to update the standard form and in the SUDS data base for FS-

2700-5b.

o bl
Lol Vi CX’V

7~ DAVID G. HOLLAND

Director, Recreation, Heritage, and Wilderness Resources

cc: David G Holland, Carolyn Holbrook, Ed Ryberg, Steve Glasser, National Forest Ski Area

Association

N

Caring for the Land and Serving People Printed on Recydled Paper "
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2720-2/2340 Attachment letter of June, 2004
Water Rights Clause Revision for Ski Area Permits:

Remove the following clauses in ski area term special use permits authorized
under the Act of October 22, 1986 (on form FS-2700-5b):

. F. Temporary Suspension

VIiL. A, Termination for Higher Public Purpose
Vili. B. Termination, Revocation and Suspension
Xl F. Water Rights.

Revise the heading of section VIil. TERMINATION to read REVOCATION AND
SUSPENSION. In section Vill, add clauses A. Revocation and Suspension, B.
Opportunity to Take Corrective Action, C. Revocation.for Reasons in the Public Interest,

and D. Suspension below:

A. Revocation and 5 'usgension. The Forest Service may suspend or revoke this permit
in whole or part: )

1. For noncompliance with Federal, State, or local laws and regulations;

2. For noncompliance with the terms of this permif;

3. For failure of the holder to exercise the privileges granted by this permit;

4. With the consent of the holder; or

5, At the discretion of the authorized officer for specific and compelling reasons in

the public interest.

B. Opportunily to Take Corrective Action. Prior to revocation or suspension under clause

VIILA, the authorized officer shall give the holder written notice of the grounds for each
action and a reasonable time, not to exceed 90 days, to complete the corrective action

prescribed by the authorized officer.

C. r Reasons in the Public . If, during the term of this permit or any
-extension thereof, the Secrelary of Agriculture or any officlal of the Forest Service with
delegated authority determines in planning for the uses of the National Forest System
that the public interest requires revocation of this permit, this permit shall be revoked

after one hundred-eighty (180) day’s written notice to the holder. The United States
shall then have the right to purchase the holder's Improvements, to remove them, or to
require the holder to remove them, and the United States shall be obligated to pay an
equitable consideration for the improvements or for removal of the improvements and
damages resuiting from their removal. If the amount of consideration Is fixed by
mutual agreement between the United States and the holder, that amount shall be
accepted by the holder in full satisfaction of all claims against the United States under
this clause. If mutual agreement is not reached, the Forest Service shall determine
the amount of consideration. If the holder is dissatisfied with the amount determined
by the Forest Service, the holder may appeal the determination under the agency’s

administrative appeal regulations.

D. Suspension. The authorized officer may immediately suspend this permit, in whole or in
part, when necessary to protect public heaith, safety, or the environment. The suspension
decision must be in writing. Within 48 hours of the request of the holder, the superior of
the authorized officer shall arrange for an on-the-ground review of the adverse conditions
with the holder. Following this review the superior shall take prompt action to affirm,

maodify, or cancel the suspension.
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Under section XI MISCELLANEQUS PROVISIONS, revise the heading for
clause F Water Rights to read Water Use Facilities. Replace the existing

clause with the clause below:
F. Water Use Facilities.

1. Water Use Facilitles. The National Forest System (“NFS") land which is the subject of this
permit is hereinafter referred to as the ‘permitted NFS land.” The authorization of
facilities to divert, store, or convey water on the permitted National Forest System (NFS)
land (“water facilities”) in conjunction with water rights acquired by the holder is for the
purpose of operating a winter or year-round resort and related facilities under this permit.
If use of the water or the water facliities ceases, the authorization to use the permitted
NFS land for such water facilities will also cease. The United States reserves the right to
place conditions on the installation, operation, maintenance and removal of these water
facilities necessary to protect public property, public safety, and natural resources on the
permitted NFS land in compliance with applicable laws, provided, however, such
condlitions shall not permit the imposition.of bypass flows on water transported to the
permitted NFS land from points of diversion or torage that arise off of the permitted NFS =,

land. -

2. Water Rights. This permit does not confer any water rights on the holder.
Water rights must be acquired by the holder under state law.

3. Future Applications and Revocation. After June 2004, any right to divert water from the

‘vermitted NFS land where the use of such water is on the same permitted NFS land shall
be applisd for and held in the name of the United Statés and the holder (hereinafter -
‘alled the "joint water rights”). -This provision shall not-apply to water rights that are -
acquired by the permit holder from a source off of the permitted NFS land and transferred
to a point of diversion.or.storage-on the periitted NFS land. During the term of the
permit and any reissuance thereafter, the permit holder shall be responsible for
maintaining such foint water rights, and shall have the right to make any applications or
other filings as may be necessary to maintain and protect such joint water rights. In-the .:
évent of revocation of this permit, the United States shall succeed to the sole ownership -
of such joint water rights. All joint water rights subject to this clause are listed below (if

none, write NONE).

State ID # Qwner Type or Basis Purpose of Use
(decree, license, certificate
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"' Court Name: U.S. District Court, Colorad

0
Divisions 1

Receipt Number: COXBA4542
Cashier ID: of

Transaction Date: #1/10/2812
Payer Name: CHRISTOPHER MILLS

CIVIL FILING FEE
For: CHRISTOPHER MILLS
fimount: $358. 88

CREDIT CARD
Ant Tendered: $356.68

Total Dues $358.80
Total Tendeved: $358.68
Change fmt: 48,68

12-Cv-48

fi fee of $53.88 will be assessed on
any returned check.





